RECEIVED

Sep 11 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

Assigned Judge: Darrell Scott Fisher, Circuit Court Judge
Disposition Judge: G.D. Morgan, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case Nos. 2023-000182 and 2023-001149

The State of South Carolina,

Respondent,

v.

Luis Armando Alvarez,

Appellant.

AND

The State of South Carolina,

Respondent,

v.

Juan Carlos Alvarez,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF THE APPELLANTS

Beattie B. Ashmore
650 East Washington St.
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 467-1001
Attorney for the Appellants

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the trial court erred in denying the Appellants' request to charge self-defense where there was evidence in the record from which it could be reasonably inferred that the Appellants acted in self-defense.
- II. Whether the trial court erred in charging the jury on accomplice liability for attempted murder, a specific intent crime.
- III. Whether the trial court erred in failing to charge the jury that the Appellants had the right to remain silent, and if so, whether this error was cured by charging the jury on this instruction after it reached its verdict.
- IV. Whether the State failed to disclose information and evidence in violation of *Brady* or Rule 5, SCRCrimP, requiring reversal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 22, 2020, a Greenville County jury indicted each Appellant on two counts of attempted murder: one count with respect to Javier Solis, and the other count with respect to Orlando Lopez. (R. pp. 16-17, 22-23, 28-29, 34-35). It also indicted each Appellant on two counts of possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime (*to wit*, a knife) related to the attempted murders. (*Id.*). The Appellants' cases were called to a joint jury trial on May 9, 2022, before Honorable G.D. Morgan, Jr. (R. p. 40). Assistant Solicitors W. Douglas Richardson and Jessica Holland represented the State. (*Id.*). Attorney Asher Watson represented Appellant Luis Alvarez and Attorneys Sara Gorski and Paul Neely represented Appellant Juan Alvarez. (*Id.*). On May 13, 2022, the jury found the Appellants guilty on all charges. (R. p. 587, line 7-p. 588, line 11). The Appellants were each sentenced to 25 years in prison, concurrent, on the two counts of attempted murder, and 5 years in prison, concurrent, on the two counts of possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. (R. p. 597, line 7-p. 598, line 17). The Appellants filed post-trial motions, which were denied. (R. pp. 1-11).

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This case involves a four-on-two man fight in a parking lot of Club Vibe where Javier Solis, Orlando Lopez, Orlando Lopez's friend, and Jhefrey Colorado ambushed the Appellants.

In the early morning of September 22, 2018, the Appellants were at Club Vibe ("the Club"), sitting at the bar, when Orlando Lopez ("Lopez") walked in the back door with two others. (R. p. 203, lines 7-9; p. 206, line 20-p. 207, line 4). Lopez sat near the Appellants. (R. p. 185, line 22-p. 186, line 1; p. 229, lines 13-19). The Clubs owners, Bladimir Acosta ("Acosta") and Paula Patina ("Patina"), were friends with Lopez, Javier Solis ("Solis"), and Solis's wife, who was also at the Club. (R. p. 184, lines 15-16; p. 204, lines 14-17; p. 260, lines 12-14; p. 282, lines 6-8). Acosta played a song from the Appellants' home country, Honduras. (R. p. 186, lines 4-6; p. 319, lines 13-15; p. 345, lines 10-12). Lopez testified that he commented, "What an ugly song," and one of the Appellants replied, "Shut up your mouth" "little Columbian son of a bitch." (R. p. 184, lines 15-16; p. 186, lines 4-5). There was also testimony that one of the Appellants replied "Columbian, watch, watch what you say" without the offensive phrase. (R. p. 186, lines 4-8; p. 203, lines 13-16; p. 207, line 17-p. 208, line 8). Jhefrey Colorado ("Colorado") testified that he saw Lopez and the Appellants argue inside the bar. (R. p. 231, lines 4-6). Lopez was drinking alcohol that night. (R. p. 185, lines 6-13; p. 231, lines 12-14) (Lopez had two drinks of the liquor Aguardiente in the "very short period of time" he was at the Club); (R. p. 217, lines 14-24) (Lopez had two or three drinks of whiskey and coke).

Solis testified that he was not sitting near the Appellants, but the Appellants "passed my side" when they used the bathroom. (R. p. 289, lines 20-24). He also saw "gestures" and the Appellants speaking to Patina. (R. p. 287, line 20-p. 288, line 4). Although he did not know what was being said, it upset him, so he confronted the Appellants. (R. p. 287, line 25-p. 288, line 4; p.

288, line 25; p. 289, lines 1-6). Solis was also drinking alcohol that night. (R. p. 281, line 22-p. 282, line 1) (Solis drinking Tequila from 10:00 pm to 2:00 am).

Tension was high inside the Club. Lopez and Solis sued the Club and its owners because the fight “started there.”

Q: Well, it’s true thought that you actually sued Club Vibe, right?

A: Yes.

Q: And that you sued [the owners], correct?

A: Yes.

Q: And that it’s based on what happened in that club that night?

A: Yes.

Q: So you are holding them responsible for what happened to you?

A: Yes. Because it started there.

(R. p. 213, lines 11-22; *see also* R. p. 321, lines 14-18).

Lopez, Colorado, and Solis contradicted each other about what happened in the parking lot outside of the Club. Lopez testified that he announced that he was leaving the Club, but did not have time to make it to his car before the Appellants attacked him:

Q: And when you left, did you leave alone?

A: Yes.

Q: And when you left, were the [Appellants] still in the bar?

A: Yes.

Q: Once you left, where did you go?

A: I was going towards the car, but I did not have the time to get there.

Q: Okay. So when you say you were going towards the car, whose car?

A: It was to my car to go to my house.

Q: Okay. So you were going to your car?

A: Yes, sir.

Q: And was – at this point in time, was Jhefrey Colorado with you?

A: No. He was outside. I found him outside when I was going towards the car.

Q: So you saw Jhefrey Colorado outside after you left the club?

A: Yes. He was outside.

...

Q: ... [W]ere you alone when you left the club and outside in the parking lot?

A: Yes. Alone.

Q: ... [W]hat happened after you left the bar in the parking lot?

A: I was going towards the car and I felt someone behind. I looked and it was [the Appellants] already attacking me.

(R. p. 187, line 8-p. 188, line 6; p. 188, lines 15-25). On cross examination, Lopez admitted that he was outside with Colorado, but still asserted that the Appellants did not let him get to his car before attacking him:

- Q: ... [Y]ou said you decided to leave [the Club]?
A: Yes.
Q: And that you went outside by yourself?
A: By myself.
Q: And you immediately went to your car?
A: I was going towards the car.
Q: Okay. And you were getting ready to leave?
A: Yes.
Q: And you didn't because that's when you felt you got stabbed?
A: Yes. They didn't let me get into the car.
Q: But that's not actually what happened either, right?
A: That's what happened.
Q: Well, that's what you're telling us today, but what actually happened was you stopped to smoke a cigarette outside?
A: Yes.
Q: Right next to your car?
A: Yes.
Q: And you even were out there with Jhefrey Colorado?
A: Uh-huh.
Q: But when you were asked by [the prosecutor], you said you went directly to your car and you didn't leave, and you couldn't leave because you were stabbed?
A: Yes.
Q: But that's not actually what happened because you were out there for a little while - - 5 minutes, 10 minutes, 20 minutes. You even ---
A: No. No. Jhefrey [Colorado] asked me if I had a light. And I was going to the car for the light, and that's when they got onto me.
Q: Okay. But you --
A: I looked for the light. And when I was going to leave, they didn't let me get into the car.

(R. p. 208, line 9-p. 209, line 21). On further cross examination, when confronted with his deposition testimony, Lopez admitted that he was outside for about five minutes before the Appellants came out:

- Q: Sir, you testified when [the prosecutor] asked you did you – that [the Appellants] immediately came out behind when you walked out in the parking lot, correct?
- A: Yes.
- Q: But when you were giving a deposition under oath, you said that you were outside for about five minutes.
- A: Yes. I smoked a cigarette and they came out from the back.

(R. p. 220, lines 16-24).

Colorado testified that he left “just after” Lopez. (R. p. 230, lines 10-15). When he got outside, he first went to his car to look for a cigarette. (R. p. 230, lines 20-23). He could not find any, so he walked over to Lopez to see if he (Lopez) had a cigarette. (R. p. 231, lines 20-25). Lopez was inside his car at this time. (R. p. 232, lines 3-13). Lopez told Colorado that he did not have a cigarette, although law enforcement body camera footage showed a pack of cigarettes underneath Lopez’s vehicle. (R. p. 232, lines 13-15; p. 385, line 22-p. 386, p. 386, line 5). Colorado testified that because Lopez did not have any cigarettes, they walked to his (Colorado’s) car to see if they could find one. (R. p. 232, lines 13-15). They could not find a cigarette, and Lopez went to his car. (R. p. 246, line 24-p. 244, line 1). Colorado testified that Lopez had an argument with the Appellants, who were then outside the Club. (R. p. 244, lines 5-19). In addition to Lopez and Colorado, one of Lopez’s friends was also in the parking lot at the time. (R. p. 212, lines 17-25). Colorado told law enforcement that they “were all hanging out in the parking lot.” (R. p. 245, lines 20-21).

The Appellants did not follow Lopez, Colorado, and Lopez’s friend out of the Club. Rather, they stayed inside, and left sometime later when Acosta (the Club owner who was friends with Lopez, Solis, and Solis’s wife) told them that they had to leave. (R. p. 306, lines 24-25). The Appellants did not want to leave the Club by themselves and urged Acosta to make everyone leave at the same time. (R. p. 307, lines 19-21). Acosta refused this request and told the

Appellants that they (alone) had to leave. (R. p. 308, lines 18-20). The Appellants left the Club, only to find Lopez, Colorado, and one of Lopez's friends lying in wait. The Appellants could not turn around and go back inside, as Acosta had locked the Club's door. (R. p. 206, lines 17-22; p. 267, lines 14-16; p. 268, lines 2-5; p. 303, lines 13-15; p. 309, lines 4-5). Although Solis's wife could not see anything that was happening outside, she knew that the men planned on attacking the Appellants, as she told Solis not to leave the Club. (See R. p. 293, lines 14-17; p. 319, lines 1-6). By this time, Lopez and Colorado were standing next to each other, and Lopez was arguing with the Appellants. (R. p. 263, lines 8-11). Solis went outside despite his wife's pleas.

The Appellants then faced four men: Lopez, Lopez's friend, Colorado, and Solis. At some point, Colorado armed himself with what was described as a club, a tube or stick, and a metal tube or pole, and the Appellants had a box cutter that they used for work. (R. p. 237, lines 13-14; p. 342, lines 13-14; p. 386, lines 14-15; p. 206, lines 17-22; p. 267, lines 14-16; p. 268, lines 2-5; p. 293, lines 11-13; p. 303, lines 13-15; p. 309, lines 4-5; p. 319, lines 1-6; p. 327, lines 15-19; p. 430, line 9). The Appellants were bleeding, and they tried to escape the attack in their work van, however the van door would not open. (R. p. 238, lines 8-10; p. 393, lines 20-24). They were able to escape through nearby woods. (R. p. 238, lines 10-12).

Although the Appellants had each submitted multiple *Brady* and Rule 5, SCRCrim.P., requests to the State, the State failed to preserve and provide them with crucial information and evidence. Sometime after the State issued warrants for the Appellants arrest, the State of Florida took them into custody, and they were extradited to South Carolina. (R. p. 111, line 16-p. 112, line 16; p. 113, line 14-p. 116, line 4). The State did not produce the Florida law enforcement records to the Appellants, which included the Appellants' medical records and their statements to law enforcement regarding their medical condition. (R. p. 131, line 5-p. 132, line 25).

Sometime after the Appellants were extradited to South Carolina, Officer Urbina activated his body camera and read the Appellants' warrants to them in Spanish. (R. p. 94, lines 1-5). This video recording would have shown any injuries that the Appellants still had when they arrived in South Carolina, three weeks after the incident. (R. p. 101, lines 7-20). However, three days into trial, the State determined that it could not produce this video recording because it never downloaded the video from Officer Urbina's body camera. (R. p. 121, line 16-p. 122, line 6; p. 129, lines 5-7). Officer Cassel also activated his body camera when he spoke with the victims and witnesses soon after the event, whose statements were being translated from Spanish to English by Officer Nunez. (R. p. 364, lines 2-5; p. 366, line 23-p. 367, line 12). The State never downloaded the video from Officer Cassel's body camera, and therefore never produced the recording to the Appellants. (R. p. 121, line 16-p. 122, line 6; p. 129, lines 5-7). This video recording would have provided impeachment evidence, as the State argued that the inconsistent testimony was due to mistranslations. (R. p. 515, lines 10-21).

The court charged the jury on the various types of criminal intent:

In order to establish criminal liability, criminal intent is required. For example, the mental state required to be proven by the State in this case for a particular crime might be purpose, intent, knowledge, recklessness, or criminal negligence.

... Criminal - - criminal intent can arise from action or a failure to act. It may arise from negligence, recklessness, or indifference to duty or to consequence that is considered by the law to be the equivalent of criminal intent.

(R. p. 572, lines 7-12; p. 573, lines 5-13). Over the objection of the Appellants, the court also charged accomplice liability. (R. p. 470, line 18-p. 473, line 14; p. 480, line 16-p. 481, line 2; p. 575, line 10-p. 577, line 6). While the court instructed the jury that attempted murder requires specific intent, it did not instruct the jury that it had to find the Appellant, as an accomplice, specifically intended that the victim be killed when he aided the crime of attempted murder. (*See*

R. p. 575, line 10-p. 577, line 6). Despite the Appellants' request, the court refused to charge self-defense. (R. p. 484, line 23-p. 506, line 20).

The Appellants did not testify at trial. The court was planning to give the “no inference charge” regarding the Appellants' right to remain silent, but it failed to do so. (*See* R. p. 561, line 20-p. 580, line 14). Sometime after the jury was dismissed to deliberate, the court's failure became apparent to the court and/or trial counsel. (*See* R. p. 582, lines 4-13). Before the court and parties were able to discuss the matter on the record, the jury had reached its verdict, completed the written verdict forms, the foreperson certified that “this decision was the unanimous decision of the jury,” the jury provided notice to the bailiff that it had reached a verdict, and the bailiff provided notice to the court that the jury had reached a verdict. (R. p. 579, lines 12-16; p. 582, lines 6-13; *see also* R. pp. 12-15). Although the jury reached its verdict, which was certified by the foreperson, the court instructed the jury on the “no inference charge” and told it to “continue” its deliberations – even though its deliberations had concluded. (R. p. 583, line 24-p. 585, line 11). There is no record evidence that the jury was given a new verdict form to replace the completed one signed by the foreperson. (*See* R. p. 582, line 8-p. 585, line 14). Six minutes later, the jury again provided notice that they had reached a verdict. (R. p. 586, lines 4-6). That verdict found both Appellants guilty on all charges. (R. p. 587, line 5-p. 588, line 16).

ARGUMENT

- I. The trial court erred in denying the Appellants' request to charge self-defense where there was evidence in the record from which it could be reasonably inferred that the Appellants acted in self-defense.**

Standard of Review

“An appellate court will not reverse a trial court’s decision regarding a jury instruction absent an abuse of discretion.” *State v. White*, 425 S.C. 304, 311, 821 S.E.2d 523, 527 (Ct. App. 2018) (quoting *State v. Stanko*, 402 S.C. 252, 264, 741 S.E.2d 708, 714 (2013)). “When reviewing the trial court’s refusal to deliver a requested jury instruction, appellate courts must consider the evidence in a light most favorable to the defendant.” *Id.* (quoting *State v. Williams*, 400 S.C. 308, 314, 733 S.E.2d 605, 608–09 (Ct. App. 2012)). “The law to be charged to the jury is determined by the evidence presented at trial.” *Id.* (quoting *State v. Gaines*, 380 S.C. 23, 31, 667 S.E.2d 728, 732 (2008)). “If there is any evidence to support a jury charge, the trial court should grant the request.” *Id.* (quoting *State v. Brown*, 362 S.C. 258, 262, 607 S.E.2d 93, 95 (Ct. App. 2004)). “If there is any evidence in the record from which it could reasonably be inferred that the defendant acted in self-defense, the defendant is entitled to instructions on the defense, and the trial judge’s refusal to do so is reversible error.” *State v. Day*, 341 S.C. 410, 416–17, 535 S.E.2d 431, 434 (2000) (quoting *State v. Muller*, 282 S.C. 10, 316 S.E.2d 409 (1984)).

Argument

“To establish self defense in South Carolina, four elements must be present: (1) the defendant must be without fault in bringing on the difficulty; (2) the defendant must have been in actual imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury, or he must have actually believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury; (3) if his defense is based upon his belief of imminent danger, defendant must show that a reasonably prudent person of ordinary firmness and courage would have entertained the belief that he was actually in imminent danger and that the circumstances were such as would warrant a person of ordinary prudence, firmness, and courage to strike the fatal blow in order to save himself from serious bodily harm or the loss of his life; and (4) the defendant had no other

probable means of avoiding the danger.” *Day*, 341 S.C. at 416, 535 S.E.2d at 434 (citing *State v. Bryant*, 336 S.C. 340, 520 S.E.2d 319 (1999)).

There is ample evidence in the record from which it could reasonably be inferred that the Appellants acted in self-defense. The difficulty between the Appellants and Lopez, Solis, Colorado, and their friends started inside the Club. *See Day*, 341 S.C. at 417, 535 S.E.2d at 435 (the jury can consider “past difficulties between the parties in weighing self-defense”). Lopez and the Appellants argued over a song that was playing from the Appellants’ home country. (R. p. 184, lines 15-16; p. 186, lines 4-8, 14-15; p. 203, lines 13-16; p. 207, line 17-p. 208, line 8). Colorado testified that he saw Lopez and the Appellants arguing. (R. p. 231, lines 4-6). Solis was angry at the Appellants because he saw them say something to Patina - - although he did not know what was said, he decided to confront them. (R. p. 287, line 20-p. 288, line 4; p. 288, line 25-p. 289, line 6). It was also reasonable to infer that Solis was angry when the Appellants “passed” him when they used the bathroom. (R. p. 289, line 20-p. 290, line 3; p. 290, lines 23-25; p. 291, line 1-p. 292, line 9). Lopez and Solis were both drinking alcohol that night. (R. p. 185, lines 6-13; p. 231, lines 12-14; p. 217, lines 14-24; p. 281, line 22-p. 282, line 1); *see also State v. Douglas*, 411 S.C. 307, 327, 768 S.E.2d 232, 243 (Ct. App. 2014) (evidence of the victim’s intoxication is relevant to self-defense). Lopez and Solis sued the Club and its owners because “it started there.” (R. p. 213, lines 11-22; *see also* R. p. 321, lines 14-18).

The Appellants were not at fault for bringing on the difficulty. The Appellants were the victims of a deliberate ambush, a surprise attack, facilitated by the Club owner who forced them out of the Club and locked the door behind them. The Appellants did not follow Lopez, Colorado, and Lopez’s friend out of the Club. Acosta forced the Appellants out of the Club by themselves, and then locked the door behind them. (R. p. 206, lines 17-22; p. 267, lines 14-16; p.

268, lines 2-5; p. 303, lines 13-15; p. 309, lines 4-5). Although Solis's wife could not see anything that was happening outside, it is reasonable to infer that she knew that the men planned on attacking the Appellants, as she told Solis not to go outside. (R. p. 293, lines 11-3; p. 319, lines 1-6).

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