RECEIVED

Sep 10 2024

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
G.D. Morgan, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case Nos. 2023-000182 and 2023-001149

The State,Respondent,

v.

Luis Armando Alvarez,Appellant.

AND

The State,Respondent,

v.

Juan Carlos Alvarez,Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

J. BENJAMIN APLIN
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 8729
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-3727

W. WALTER WILKINS
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit
305 E. North Street
Greenville, South Carolina 29601
(864) 467-8647

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

Attest:
Clerk of Court

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

Furthermore, when considered as a whole rather than focusing on the accomplice liability charge in isolation, the charge was proper because it was substantially correct and adequately covered the law. Indeed, as recognized by Appellants, the trial court charged that to convict either Appellant of attempted murder, the State was required to prove they had the specific intent to kill. It instructed:

The defendants are charged with attempted murder. Attempted murder is the performance of an act or acts which intent - - was intended but fail to kill a human being. *In order to prove this crime, the State must prove the defendants*

had the specific intent to kill and did attempt to kill another person with malice aforethought.

....

A specific intent to kill is an element of attempted murder. Intent means intending the result which actually occurs, not accidentally or involuntarily. To prove attempt, the State must prove that the defendants had the specific intent to commit the underlying offense along with some overt act in furtherance of that intent, and intent may be shown by the acts and conduct of the defendants.

(R.p.573, line 14-p.574, line 20) (emphasis added). This charge eliminated any possible confusion allegedly created by the accomplice liability charge. The trial court did not err in charging the hand of one is the hand of all.

Harmless Error

When considering whether an error with respect to jury instructions was harmless, the appellate court must determine beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict. *State v. Perry*, 440 S.C. 396, 408, 892 S.E.2d 273, 279 (2023). Here, even assuming the trial judge erred by failing to inform the jury that accomplice liability for attempted murder must include a specific intent to kill, Appellants could not possibly have suffered any prejudice because the jury could have reached no other conclusion but that both Appellants had a specific intent to kill the victim. The evidence reflected that each Appellant actively participated in repeatedly cutting and stabbing Lopez and Solis with box cutters, primarily in their backs. Appellants' conduct left no doubt about their specific intent to kill the victims. *See State v. Sutton*, 340 S.C. 393, 397 n.5, 532 S.E.2d 283, 285 n.5 (2000) ("A specific intent to kill may be, and normally is, inferred from the surrounding circumstances, such as the character of the attack, the use of a deadly weapon, and the nature and extent of the victim's injuries."); 41 C.J.S. *Homicide* § 179 (intent to kill may be inferred from the character of the assault, the use of a deadly weapon with an opportunity to deliberate, or the use of a dangerous

or deadly weapon in a manner reasonably calculated to cause death or great bodily harm; intent may be inferred when it is demonstrated that the accused voluntarily and willfully commits an act, the natural tendency of which is to destroy another's life). This harmlessness of any error is even more apparent considering that, in its closing argument, the State *did not* tell the jury that a specific intent to kill was *not* required for accomplice liability. Indeed, where the solicitor *never* even uttered the phrase "the hand of one is the hand of all," the accomplice liability charge could not have contributed to the verdict beyond a reasonable doubt. *Compare Rosales v. Indiana*, 23 N.E.3d 8, 15-16 (2015) (concluding that if the State had not repeatedly misstated the law the court likely would have found an insufficient likelihood of prejudice from the instruction, but the State's repeated insistence that the defendant's specific intent to kill did not matter, coupled with the inaccurate jury instruction on accomplice liability, was enough to make a fair trial impossible and constitute fundamental error). Because the State's version of the facts demonstrated beyond a reasonable doubt that both Appellants had the specific intent to kill the victims, and the State did not rely on accomplice liability in its close, Appellants could not have suffered prejudice even assuming the trial court's accomplice liability charge was erroneous. *See State v. Jefferies*, 316 S.C. 13, 23, 446 S.E.2d 427, 433 (1994) (erroneous charge harmless where it does not contribute to the verdict). Appellants are not entitled to reversal on this ground.

III.

Appellants' argument that the trial court erred in failing to charge the jury that he had the right to remain silent is not preserved for appellate review because it was neither raised to nor ruled upon by the trial court during trial. Even if preserved, the trial court cured any possible error by properly charging the jury on the right to remain silent and not to testify prior to the final verdict being read and entered, thus rendering the charge substantially correct and adequate in covering the law applicable to the case. Furthermore, any possible error was harmless because it would not have affected the jury's deliberations or contributed to the verdict.

Appellants argue the trial court erred in failing to charge the jury that they had the right to remain silent, and that this error was not cured by charging the jury on this right after it reached its verdict. They contend trial court's decision to give the charge and then instructing the jury to continue its deliberations *after* the jury had already notified the court it had reached a verdict was not sufficient to fulfill the court's constitutional obligation to minimize the danger that the jury gave evidentiary weight to their failure to testify. Appellants argue that where the jury was told in opening statements (by Juan's counsel) that Appellants acted in defense of their own lives, and then no testimony was presented in support of that claim, the failure to testify loomed large and therefore the omitted jury instruction could not have been harmless. They further argue "the State exacerbated this error by commenting in its closing on the lack of self-defense and how the Appellants 'put up no evidence.'" (Brief of Appellants p.18-p.21). The State disagrees and submits Appellants arguments should be rejected as unpreserved or alternatively denied on the merits.

Issue not Preserved for Appeal

First and foremost, Appellants complaint about the lack of an adequate jury charge on their right to remain silent is simply not preserved for appellate review. In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, the issue must have been: (1) raised to and ruled upon by the

trial court; (2) raised by the Petitioner; (3) raised in a timely manner; and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity. *State v. Rogers*, 361 S.C. 178, 183, 603 S.E.2d 910, 912-13 (Ct. App. 2004). “If a party fails to properly object, the party is procedurally barred from raising the issue on appeal.” *State v. Johnson*, 363 S.C. 53, 58-59, 609 S.E.2d 520, 523 (2005). Regarding the requirement that a timely objection be raised, a defendant must make a contemporaneous objection to a perceived error during trial in order to preserve the issue for further review. *State v. Hoffman*, 312 S.C. 386, 393, 440 S.E.2d 869, 873 (1994). Thus, when a perceived error arises, the defendant must object at the first opportunity to do so, or the issue is waived. *State v. Sullivan*, 310 S.C. 311, 314, 426 S.E.2d 766, 768 (1993). Indeed, an issue may not be raised for the first time in a post-trial motion when it could have been raised at trial. *State v. Hamilton*, 333 S.C. 642, 648, 511 S.E.2d 94, 96-97 (Ct. App. 1999); *Patterson v. Reid*, 318 S.C. 183, 185, 456 S.E.2d 436, 437 (Ct. App. 1995). The issue preservation requirement also applies to assertions of constitutional violations. *State v. Passmore*, 363 S.C. 568, 584, 611 S.E.2d 273, 282 (Ct. App. 2005).

Appellants first raised this argument in their post-trial motions for a new trial (Motions for a New Trial dated and filed May 20, 2022, and May 25, 2022); therefore, this issue is not preserved for consideration by this Court and should be dismissed. In any event, the argument is without merit because the jury charge, when considered as a whole, was correct and adequately covered the law. Any possible error in the initial failure to give the charge was cured by the trial court’s actions in subsequently charging the jury on the right to remain silent. Finally, any possible error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Appellants conviction should be affirmed.

Standard of Review

The standard of review set forth in Argument I above is hereby incorporated by reference rather than being repeated here.

Analysis

Under the United States and South Carolina Constitutions, a criminal defendant has a right to remain silent and to not testify during his trial. U.S. Const. amend. V; S.C. Const. art. I, § 12; *State v. Weaver*, 361 S.C. 73, 88, 602 S.E.2d 786 (Ct. App. 2004). Exercise of that constitutional right may not be used against him. *State v. Shuler*, 353 S.C. 176, 577 S.E.2d 438 (2003). If an improper comment was made, the trial court's instruction to the jury that it may not consider the failure to testify in any way and may not use it against the defendant may be sufficient to cure any potential error. *Johnson v. State*, 325 S.C. 182, 188, 480 S.E.2d 733, 735-36 (1997). This jury instruction on the defendant's right to remain silent and to not testify is sometimes referred to as a "no adverse inference charge." See, e.g., *State v. Arthur*, 290 S.C. 291, 298, 350 S.E.2d 187, 191 (1986). Our United States Supreme Court has held that a state trial judge has a constitutional obligation, upon proper request, to minimize the danger that the jury will give evidentiary weight to a defendant's failure to testify by giving a "no adverse inference" instruction. *Carter v. Kentucky*, 450 U.S. 288, 305 (1981).

Here, the trial court acknowledged it failed to give a "no adverse inference" instruction on Appellants' right to remain silent either in the preliminary charge to the jury or in the full jury charge at the end of trial prior to deliberations. (R.p.582-p.583). However, upon recognizing this mistake, the trial court, with consent of the parties, brought the jury back prior to entry of a verdict, and gave a thorough "no adverse inference" charge on Appellants right to remain silent and not to testify. The trial court further instructed the jury to continue their deliberations with

the “no adverse inference” charge in mind. (R.p.583, line 24-p.585, line 12). Appellants did not take exception to these additional instructions or to the verdict rendered after further deliberations. (R.p.585, lines 15-20; p.586, lines 10-13). As a result, the additional instructions became part of the overall instructions given to the jury. Those overall instructions, when considered as a whole, were entirely proper because they were correct and adequately covered the law—including the fact that no adverse inference should be drawn from Appellants’ failure to testify. The trial court effectively cured any possible error in its initial failure to give the charge by subsequently charging the jury on the right to remain silent and the right not to testify. Thus, the trial court *did* properly charge the jury on Appellants’ rights to remain silent and there was no error.

Harmless Error

Even if the trial court somehow erred in the overall jury charge or procedure by giving the “no adverse inference” charge *after* a period of deliberation, any possible error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt because the error was not prejudicial to Appellants. To reverse a criminal conviction on the basis of an erroneous jury instruction, the appellate court must find the error was a prejudicial error. *State v. Bowers*, 436 S.C. 640, 646, 875 S.E.2d 608, 611 (2022). Prejudicial error in a jury instruction is an error that contributed to the jury verdict. *Id.* The question that must be addressed is not whether the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt because of overwhelming evidence of guilt; rather, the question is whether the erroneous jury charge affected the jury’s deliberations and, thus, contributed to the verdict. *Id.* at 646-47, 875 S.E.2d at 611. If the appellate court has any reasonable doubt as to whether the erroneous charge contributed to the verdict, it must reverse the conviction. *Id.* To determine whether the erroneous jury charge contributed to the verdict the court must attempt to determine how the jury

understood the jury instruction. *Id.* at 647, 875 S.E.2d at 611. The appropriate test involves determining what a reasonable juror would have understood the charge to mean. *Id.*

At the conclusion of Appellants' trial, if the jury had reached a final verdict after deliberating with *no instruction* at all on the right to remain silent, the erroneous omission would likely have contributed to that verdict because a reasonable juror would not have understood there was a prohibition on making an adverse inference due to the failure to testify. But here, before the final verdict was reached and entered, the trial court gave the jury an individual instruction on that right, telling the jurors the decision not to testify: "must not be considered by you in any manner" and emphasized "you are to draw no conclusions whatsoever from the fact that defendants in this case did not testify." (R.p.584, line 13-p.585, line 5). If anything, this specific instruction, given *separate* from the general instructions and *after* a period of deliberation and notification of a verdict, served to highlight or emphasize Appellants rights. It drew special attention to the "no adverse inference" rule, ensuring that if the jury had improperly considered this before, they must return and further deliberate with the highlighted rights in mind. A reasonable juror would not only have understood the jury charge as a whole, he or she would have given heightened scrutiny to the right to remain silent and would have reconsidered any prior thoughts he or she had about an appropriate verdict in light of that right before rendering a final verdict. Consequently, the alleged error in the jury charge did not contribute to the guilty verdicts and could not have prejudiced Appellants. *Bowers* at 646-47, 875 S.E.2d at 611. Any possible error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. For all of these reasons, Appellants' arguments should be rejected and their convictions should be affirmed.

IV.

The trial court properly denied Appellants' pretrial motions to dismiss where Appellants failed to establish any *Brady* or other due process violations because they failed to demonstrate the information or evidence at issue was favorable to Appellants or that it was material to their guilt or innocence, or was impeaching.

Appellants argue the State failed to disclose information and evidence in violation of *Brady* and Rule 5, SCRCrimP, requiring reversal.⁷ They argue this violated their fundamental rights to a fair trial and due process and complain that the State failed to disclose two key types of information or evidence. First, Appellants contend the State, including law enforcement, had a duty to preserve evidence of self-defense and that it failed to uphold that duty when it did not preserve or disclose evidence or information regarding their alleged injuries. Appellants argue law enforcement records from their arrest in Florida would have included statements regarding their medical condition and that the State had the duty to learn of this favorable evidence known to Florida law enforcement. They further argue the body-worn camera recording taken by Officer Urbina three weeks after the incident, at the time of their arrest in South Carolina and following their extradition from Florida, would have shown any injuries they still had, claiming the exculpatory value of the video was apparent before it was "destroyed." Second, Appellants contend the State had a duty to preserve impeachment evidence and that it failed to uphold that duty when it did not preserve or disclose the body-worn camera recording taken by Officer Cassel when he interviewed witnesses to the incident at the hospital. They argue the exculpatory

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